R-10-34

The Greenland Analogue Project (GAP)

Literature review of hydrogeology/ hydrogeochemistry

Thomas Wallroth, Hanna Lokrantz, Andrius Rimsa Bergab Consulting Geologists

September 2010

Svensk Kärnbränslehantering AB Swedish Nuclear Fuel and Waste Management Co

Box 250, SE-101 24 Stockholm Phone +46 8 459 84 00



ISSN 1402-3091 SKB R-10-34

The Greenland Analogue Project (GAP)

Literature review of hydrogeology/ hydrogeochemistry

Thomas Wallroth, Hanna Lokrantz, Andrius Rimsa Bergab Consulting Geologists

September 2010

This report concerns a study which was conducted for SKB. The conclusions and viewpoints presented in the report are those of the authors. SKB may draw modified conclusions, based on additional literature sources and/or expert opinions.

A pdf version of this document can be downloaded from www.skb.se.

Contents

1	Introduction	5
2 2.1 2.2	Hydrogeology and hydrogeochemistry in glaciated and permafrost regions – background section Permafrost The ice sheet	7 7 10
3	Climate and meteorology in western Greenland	11
3.1	General conditions	11
3.2	The Kangerlussuaq region	12
4	Geological settings	13
4.1	Bedrock geology	13
4.2	Local tectonic conditions	14
4.3	Quaternary geology	15
5	The permafrost environment	19
6	Hydrology	21
6.1	Surface waters	21
6.2	Chemistry of melt and surface waters	25
6.3	Data from other areas	28
7	Hydrogeology and groundwater	31
7.1	Groundwater flow	31
7.2	Hydrochemistry of groundwater	31
7.3	Data from other areas	33
8	References	37

1 Introduction

This report is produced as part of the Greenland Analogue Project (GAP), carried out as a collaboration project with the Canadian Nuclear Waste Management Organization (NWMO), Posiva Oy and the Swedish Nuclear Fuel and Waste Management Co (SKB) as collaborating and financing partners.

The overall aim of the project is to improve the current understanding of hydrogeological and hydrogeochemical processes associated with continental-scale glacial periods including with the presence of permafrost and the advance/retreat of ice sheets. The project will focus on studying how an ice sheet affects groundwater flow and water chemistry around a deep geological repository in crystalline bedrock. The Greenland Analogue Project consists of three active sub-projects (A–C) with individual objectives. Field studies are conducted in the Kangerlussuaq region, in central Western Greenland.

Sub-projects A and B collectively aim at improving the understanding of ice sheet hydrology by combining investigations on surface water processes with ice sheet drilling and instrumentation. In sub-project C, the penetration of glacial melt water into the bedrock, groundwater flow and the chemical composition of water will be studied. Main planned activities in sub-project C include drilling of a deep borehole in front of the ice sheet, in which different downhole surveys, sampling and monitoring will be carried out.

The primary aim of this report is to review available information about hydrogeology and hydrogeochemistry in central Western Greenland, with special emphasis on the area around Kangerlussuaq. The relevant information about this area is however very limited, and it was decided to extend the review to briefly include studies made in other regions with similar conditions in terms of geology, climate and glaciology. The number of published studies made in other areas with glaciers, ice sheets or permafrost is very large, and the review and list of references in this report is far from complete. It is also obvious that both hydrogeological and hydrogeochemical conditions are highly local and site-specific. Hence, data from other arctic regions can only be seen as indicative and give knowledge on processes that may or may not be relevant for the geographical area of primary interest in this project.

2 Hydrogeology and hydrogeochemistry in glaciated and permafrost regions – background section

The hydrogeological and hydrogeochemical conditions in a region such as western Greenland are likely to be governed by several factors:

- Bedrock and tectonics.
- Soil cover.
- Current temperature and precipitation.
- Permafrost.
- The ice sheet.
- Water bodies and surface drainage.
- The glacial history.
- Past climate.
- The Sea.

A conceptual description of the conditions and relevant processes at the edge of an ice sheet is shown in Figure 2-1. The margin of the Greenland ice sheet can be considered as more or less stationary.

2.1 Permafrost

Permafrost is defined as ground remaining below 0°C for at least two consecutive years /French 1996/. How deep the permafrost grows depends on the heat exchange process across the atmosphere/ ground boundary layers and on the geothermal heat flow from the Earth's interior. The heat exchange depends on climate conditions and their long-term, annual and diurnal variation, as well as on surface conditions such as snow cover, vegetation, topography, soil characteristics and presence of water bodies /French 1996, SKB 2006a/. More than 20% of the world's land area is occupied by permafrost /French 1996/.



Figure 2-1. Conceptual idea on the hydrogeochemical conditions around the edge of an ice sheet /Smellie and Frape 1997/.

In general, permafrost regions are considered to be either continuous or discontinuous. In continuous areas frozen ground is present everywhere, except for localised thawed zones, or taliks, beneath lakes and rivers /French 1996/. In discontinuous permafrost regions areas of unfrozen ground separate the permafrost. An illustration of different classes of permafrost is shown in Figure 2-2.

Reviews of surface and sub-surface conditions and processes in permafrost areas, especially periglacial permafrost, have been presented by /e.g. French 1996, Ahonen 2001/ and /Vidstrand 2003/.

Groundwater in permafrost environments can occur above (suprapermafrost), within (intrapermafrost) and below (subpermafrost) the permafrost layer (see Figure 2-3). The permafrost will in most cases act as a more or less impermeable, confining layer, which inhibits and re-directs groundwater flow and recharge.

The active layer is commonly defined as an upper layer in which the liquid water freezes to ice and then thaws again on an annual basis /van Everdingen 1976/. The thickness of the active layer, between centimetre and metre scale, usually varies from year to year. In the active layer the frost table will have an irregular surface, due to local variations in thermal properties and microclimate, and the lateral groundwater flow may not necessarily correspond to the ground surface topography.

Areas of unfrozen ground within the permafrost, often found beneath a body of water, are called taliks. An open talik can act as a conduit between sub- and suprapermafrost aquifers, and can hence give rise to recharge to or discharge from a subpermafrost aquifer.



Figure 2-2. Illustration of different classes of permafrost distribution /Vidstrand 2003/ after /French 1996/.



Figure 2-3. Surface and sub-surface conditions and processes in permafrost areas /Vidstrand 2003/ after /van Everdingen 1990/.

Where freezing of the active layer restricts perennial discharge from intra-permafrost or sub-permafrost aquifers, different types of seasonal and perennial frost mounds can develop at the locations of ground-water discharge /French 1996/. A pingo is an example of such periglacial landforms. Usually two types of pingo are distinguished by definition; a hydrostatic pingo (closed system) and a hydraulic pingo (open system). The latter type involves generation and flow of groundwater under artesian pressure, providing a perennial sub-surface supply to the ice-cores of the pingo. Pingos have been reported from both Eastern and Western Greenland (Figure 2-4). /Worsley and Gurney 2007/ hypothesised that the concentration of pingos in eastern Greenland reflects the locally high heat flows following Tertiary volcanism.

In a fractured crystalline basement freezing will affect the groundwater flow conditions, by a reduction of hydraulic conductivity. The conductivity can be estimated to decrease exponentially with a reduction in the unfrozen fraction of water /SKB 2006a/. In general, in a permafrost environment, the only recharge and discharge zones are open taliks in structurally deformed zones in the bedrock. In many Arctic environments continuous permafrost without open taliks prevents subpermafrost recharge and the only potential recharge is subglacial. Lateral groundwater flow through the basement rocks can take place under the permafrost or in larger fracture zones.

The subpermafrost fluid chemistry may, depending on the local conditions of recharge and discharge, be influenced by suprapermafrost, intrapermafrost or deep groundwater flow.

These processes within the subsurface environment result in changes of hydrogeochemical as well as in hydrogeological properties. One possible change is due to the salt rejection due to the freezing of groundwater in the subsurface permafrost regions. Saline water stays as an unstable basal cryopeg just beneath the permafrost and only slowly mixes with the deeper groundwater /Vidstrand 2003/. However, the occurrence of fractures and fracture zones may trigger "fingering" and initiate a density-driven groundwater flow.



Figure 2-4. Geographical distribution of pingos in Greenland /Bennike 1998/ Copyright: Geological Survey of Denmark and Greenland (GEUS).

If the permafrost area is located in the downstream direction from a glacier or ice sheet, the fluid chemistry, especially within the active layer, is likely to be highly affected by the melt water from the ice.

Natural gas hydrates may form under conditions of low temperature and high pressure, both above and below the freezing point of water /SKB 2006b/. In general methane hydrate is unstable in the uppermost ca 200 m in areas where the permafrost depth is less than 200 m. The presence of saline groundwaters increases hydrate formation from water in the absence of a gas phase. Methane hydrate reservoirs have primarily been found in sedimentary rocks /e.g Dallimore and Collett 1995/, but /Stotler 2008/ concluded, based on the field studies in the crystalline bedrock at the Lupin Mine in Canada, that gas hydrates are likely to be present in undisturbed conditions to depths 600 m below the base of the permafrost.. However, there was no evidence of large-scale methane releases at the Lupin site.

The growth of gas hydrates in the ground excludes salts /Gascoyne 2000, Vidstrand 2003/ and also results in an isotopic enrichment in the solid phase. The gas hydrate content and stability are dependent on the gas chemistry, the pore pressures and the salinity of the groundwater.

2.2 The ice sheet

The Greenland Ice Sheet provides an enormous water resource. Sub-glacial meltwater induced by geothermal heat is generated where the base of the ice sheet is at the melting temperature. Close to the edge of the ice sheet surface melt water can reach the base of the ice sheet through englacial conduits. Sub-glacial meltwater that infiltrates into the sub-surface will flow from areas with high hydraulic head to areas with lower head, either beneath the ice sheet or to locations beyond the margins of the ice. Meltwater reaching the sole of the ice sheet but which does not infiltrate the sub-surface will flow along the interface between the ice and the ground. There is a considerable difficulty in ice sheet hydrological modelling how to estimate the amount of meltwater that is recharged to the underlying aquifers. The modelling approaches used are based on either prescribed hydraulic heads related to the ice sheet elevation or specified meltwater rates.

A detailed review of the hydrology of glaciers and ice sheets has been presented by /Jansson et al. 2007/. Comprehensive numerical studies of sub-glacial groundwater flow during past continental scale glaciations and using different concepts and approaches have been presented by /e.g. Provost et al. 1998, Boulton et al. 2001, Breemer et al. 2002, Flowers and Clarke 2002a, b, Jaquet and Siegel 2003, Piotrowski 2006, Moeller et al. 2007, Person et al. 2007, Lemieux et al. 2008a, b, c, Bense and Person 2008/.

Further discussion of processes involved and different modelling approaches is beyond the scope of this review report. It is however obvious that, although considerable advances have been achieved during the last couple of decades, we need an increased knowledge about the spatial and temporal variations in drainage of ice sheets, including couplings between the supra-, en- and subglacial systems.

Glacial meltwater recharging the subglacial basement can be expected to have certain hydrogeochemical characteristics and rocks affected by glacial meltwater may show specific mineralogical and chemical signatures /Piotrowski 2006/:

- 1. Low ¹⁸O and ²H contents.
- 2. High dissolved oxygen content.
- 3. Lack of pyrite along the conductive fractures.
- 4. High values of $\delta^{13}C$ in calcites.
- 5. Low dissolved organic carbon concentration.
- 6. Low total dissolved solids contents.
- 7. Uranium-series disequilibrium.

3 Climate and meteorology in western Greenland

3.1 General conditions

The climate in Greenland as a whole is arctic but in terms of weather it may be characterised by the rather large contrasts through the country. There are considerable differences between north and south and between coastal and inland areas towards the ice sheet margin. During winter the temperature on the northern part of the ice sheet can be lower than -70° C, while summer temperature in the coastal southern areas can exceed 25°C.

The region around Kangerlussuaq, in central Western Greenland, is dominated by the ice sheet, but along its margin there is an ice-free zone. This zone consists of an arctic mountain landscape which is almost free of vegetation and with rocky surfaces.

The border between continuous and discontinuous permafrost is located between Kangerlussuaq and the coast (Figure 3-1).



Figure 3-1. Permafrost distribution in Greenland (/Christiansen and Humlum 2000/ in /Jørgensen and Andreasen 2007/). Figure reprinted with permission from Elsevier. Locations of Sisimiut and Ilulissat have been added.

3.2 The Kangerlussuaq region

There is a strong climatic gradient between the coast and the western margin of the Greenland ice sheet. At Sisimiut, situated by the coast, the average annual temperature is -3.9° C while at Kangerlussuaq where there is more continental climate, the average annual temperature is -5.7° C. While winters at Sisimiut are characterised by a relatively thick snow cover, there is generally little snow at Kangerlussuaq. This is also reflected in the glaciation limit, which increases as you go inland.

The area at the head of the fjord is characterised by mean annual temperatures ca -6° C, continuous permafrost and low precipitation (< 150 mm/y) /Anderson et al. 2001, Weidick and Bennike 2007/. The zone within about 80 km from the ice sheet has a very low (negative) effective precipitation. The climate at the coast is more maritime with a smaller temperature range and higher precipitation (c 300 mm/y).

The local climatic conditions at Kangerlussuaq are determined by its northern location in a 2-3 km wide valley surrounded by mountains with an altitude of 400–600 m /Jørgensen and Andreasen 2007/. The ice sheet with altitudes up to 3 km has a dominant influence on precipitation and winds.

4 Geological settings

The target area for the Greenland Analogue Project belongs to the Nagssugtoqidian Orogen of West Greenland. The bedrock between the coast and the ice sheet is dominated by banded gneisses with amphibolites and pegmatitic dykes. The gneisses, which are commonly fractured and weathered, have been extensively metamorphosed. During the Quaternary the area was repeatedly invaded by ice streams, which scoured out deep valleys. A number of significant systems of moraines were formed in the area during deglaciation at the end of the last glacial period. The interplay between the isostatic depression caused by the weight of the ice sheet and global variations in sea level has resulted in variations in the relative sea level during deglaciation. Parts of the area located above sea level today were periodically below sea level. This means that fine grained marine deposits could accumulate in valleys and depressions in the area. These deposits may be overlain by eolian sediments and fresh water sediments of fluvial or lacustrine origin.

4.1 Bedrock geology

The Nagssugtoqidian Orogen of West Greenland represents a Palaeoproterozoic tectonic belt with prominent ENE-trending structural grain. It is situated between the North Atlantic Craton to the south and less known Archaean craton that includes Rinkian Orogen to the north (See Figure 4-1). On a larger scale, the Nagssugtoqidian Orogen joins an extensive collage of Palaeoproterozoic orogenic belts that stretch from Canada through Greenland and Scotland to the Baltic shield /e.g. Hoffman 1990, Bridgwater et al. 1990, Park 1994, Wardle et al. 2000/.

The Nagssugtoqidian Orogen consists of three major segments namely the southern, central, and northern (SNO, CNO, and NNO; see Figure 4-1) as defined by /Marker et al. 1995/. Predominant rock type across the orogen are Archaean orthogneisses with minor paragneisses and few sets of voluminous Palaeoproterozoic Kangâmiut dyke swarms in the southern part of the orogen /Escher et al. 1975, Bridgwater et al. 1995, Cadman et al. 2001/.

The Archaean foreland to the south of the Nagssugtoqidian Orogen comprises granulite-facies orthogneisses and paragneisses with a northwest-trending Archaean structure. Main intrusive rocks are generally undeformed, late Archaean granites as well as Proterozoic mafic Kangâmiut dyke swarm. The transition zone, the so-called Southern Nagssugtoqidian front, defines the southern boundary of the Nagssugtoqidian Orogen. The tectonic structure of the front and lithological continuity across indicates that SNO is a parautochthonous foreland belt /van Gool et al. 2002/.

Within the SNO the dominant rock type is mainly tonalitic to granodioritic gneisses with minor occurrences of paragneisses in the south-western part, which probably represents a volcano-sedimentary sequence /Cadman et al. 2001, Connelly and Mengel 2000/. The northern boundary of the SNO is defined by the south-directed ductile Ikertôq thrust /Grocott 1979/, which is one of the most significant boundary zones in the Nagssugtoqidian Orogen /van Gool et al. 1996/. It marks the lithological and metamorphic boundary between SNO and CNO as well as northern extend of the Kangâmiut dyke swarm. Within the Ikertôq thrust, considerable amounts of metasedimentary psammitic rock panels parallel to the zone are present /van Gool et al. 1996/.

The Central Nagssugtoqidian Orogen is dominated by charnockite complex, high-grade Archaean granitoids and orthogneisses interleaved with Archaean and Palaeoproterozoic paragneisses /Kalsbeek and Nutman 1996, Connelly and Mengel 2000/. Dominant intrusives are Palaeoproterozoic quartz-dioritic to tonalitic rocks.

The northern Nagssugtoqidian Orogen consists mainly of poly-deformed, variably reworked grey Archaean TTG gneisses and supracrustal belts /Moyen et al. 2003, Steenfelt et al. 2005/.



Figure 4-1. Geological map of the Nagssugtoqidian Orogen /van Gool et al. 2002/. Figure reprinted with permission from NRC Research Press.

Tectonic subdivision of the orogen reflects the metamorphic zonation as well as timing of metamorphism across the orogen. The SNO and NNO are predominantly in amphibolite facies and the CNO is mostly in granulite facies. Peak metamorphic conditions in the CNO occurred at ca 1,860– 1,840 Ma /Taylor and Kalsbeek 1990, Kalsbeek et al. 1987, Kalsbeek and Nutman 1996, Connelly et al. 2000, Willigers et al. 2001/ whereas peak metamorphism in adjacent segments to the south and north took place at least 60 Ma later /Kalsbeek and Nutman 1996, Connelly and Mengel 2000, Willigers et al. 2001/. Such distribution of metamorphic phases and timing of metamorphism points towards a collisional deformation starting in the CNO and subsequently spreading laterally to the foreland in the southern and hinterland to the north /van Gool et al. 2002/.

4.2 Local tectonic conditions

The general area of interest of the Greenland Analogue Project is the Søndre Strømfjord (Kangerlussuaq) region that is situated in the most eastern, exposed part of the SNO. The western tip of the Russells Glacier is situated between two regional thrust zones (Figure 4-2). The ENE–WSW trending valley occupied by Russells Glacier follows a major fault line. Just a few kilometres to the south of the area of interest runs the NE-SW orientated southern Nagssugtoqidian front which is a tectonic and meta-morphic boundary between SNO and Southern Nagssugtoqidian foreland (see description above). A few kilometres to the north of the target area is another uncertain, but strongly indicated by the total intensity magnetic anomaly map, E-W-trending thrust zone /Korstgård et al. 2006/. In addition to those two important tectonic features, less than 20 kilometres to the north lays a northern boundary of the SNO, defined by the ENE-trending Ikertôq thrust zone, which is one of the most significant boundary zones in the Nagssugtoqidian Orogen /van Gool et al. 1996/.



Figure 4-2. Total intensity magnetic field anomaly map of the south-eastern part of the Nagssugtoqidian orogen /Korstgard et al. 2006/. Copyright: Geological Survey of Denmark and Greenland (GEUS). The approximate location of Russels glacier has been added to the original map.

Since the Mesozoic, West Greenland is a part of a passive margin east of the Davis Strait, where N–S faults connect extinct NW–SE oriented Palaeogene sea-floor spreading axes in the Labrador Sea and Baffin Bay /Chalmers and Pulvertaft 2001/. Present day landscape of central West Greenland close to Kangerlussuaq can be regarded as alpine with maximum altitude of 1,848 m.a.s.l. /Sugden 1974/ but some flat summits are still present. Contrary to the common opinion that elevated, passive continental margins have remained uplifted since the time of rifting, recent studies /e.g. Japsen et al. 2006, Bonow et al. 2006/ demonstrated that the present-day mountains of West Greenland are the end result of three Cenozoic phases of uplift and erosion. Based on apatite fission-track analysis (AFTA) three stages of uplift were dated to 36–30 Ma, 11–10 Ma and 7–2 Ma and are summarised in Figure 4-3.

The uplift phase that began between 36 and 30 Ma led to the formation of a planation surface /Japsen et al. 2006/. A second last uplift associated with the C3 cooling event reached of maximum 500 m followed by the latest uplift (C4 cooling event) of maximum 1,000 m /Bonow et al. 2006/. The latest two stages of uplift caused offset by reactivated faults (Figure 4-4), resulting in megablocks that were tilted and uplifted to present-day altitudes /Japsen et al. 2006/.

Substantial changes in the thickness of the crust and lithosphere driven by the mechanism situated in the deep crust or the upper mantle was proposed /Rohrman and van der Beek 1996, King and Anderson 1998, Praeg et al. 2005, McKenzie et al. 2000/ to explain the regional nature of the movement along passive margin with the considerable distance from the active plate boundary /Japsen et al. 2006/.

4.3 Quaternary geology

The area bordering Søndre Strømfjord comprises the widest stretch of ice-free land in Greenland, extending 170 km from the coast to the inland ice margin. The Kangerlussuaq area of West Greenland is characterized by a gentle WSW–ENE trending hilly landscape with generally narrow fjords. During the late Weichselian maximum, c 18,000 yr BP, the ice advanced onto the shelf area /Kelly 1985, Funder 1989, Funder and Hansen 1996, Bennike and Björck 2002/. Deglaciation in central West Greenland coastal areas started around 13,000 cal yr BP /van Tatenhove et al. 1996/. About 10,000 yr BP the ice reached the present coast line /Ten Brink and Weidick 1974/ and most of the inland ice margin reached its present position about 6000 yr BP. /Funder 1989, van Tatenhove et al. 1996/. Since the fjords are very narrow the ice front probably receded by ablation rather than calving /Bennike and Björck 2002/.



Figure 4-3. Schematic event chronology. Relation between discrete episodes during which AFTA data indicate onset of cooling (C1 to C4), formation of palaeosurfaces and the most likely onset of uplift. Minimum burial is not constrained by AFTA, but supplementary information is derived from geomorphology that describes bedrock surfaces formed during periods of denudation /Bonow 2005, Bonow et al. 2006/; ES: etch surface; UPS: upper planation surface; LPS: lower planation surface. The burial curve (full line) is for a hypothetical interface between basement and Cretaceous sediments now at 3-km depth; arbitrary depth scale before 100 Ma (dashed line). J: Jurassic; K: Cretaceous; Pal: Paleocene; Eo: Eocene; Olig: Oligocene; Mio: Miocene; P: Pliocene; Q: Quaternary. Basalt–V: Vaigat Formation (c. 61 My old /Storey et al. 1998/), M: Maligât Formation (c. 60 My old /Storey et al. 1998/) and Ka: Kanisut Member (c. 53 My old /Storey et al. 1998/), T: Talerua Member (c. 39 My old /Schmidt et al. 2005/). Hareøen: Neogene–Quaternary deposits on Hareøen /Christiansen et al. 1999/. Dotted lines: maximum age range of sediments. (Figure from /Japsen et al. 2006/, reprinted with permission from Elsevier).



Figure 4-4. Three-dimensional maps of the central West Greenland. (A) Topography. (B) Geology with topographical profiles. An elevated plateau is defined by two planation surfaces (shown as red and blue lines) that cut across Precambrian basement and Palaeogene volcanic rocks. The formation of the planation surfaces was uniform across the study area and they must be younger than mid-Eocene basalts. The planation surfaces now dip in different directions and are offset by faults that displace them. Three significant faults and breaklines (changes in slope gradient) relative to the planation surfaces are (1) the north–south Kuugannguaq–Qunnilik (K–Q) fault on Disko and Nuussuaq, (2) an east–west fault just north of Aasiaat (Aa) where orthogneisses are separated from supracrustal rocks to the north; this fault separates the south-dipping planation surface on Disko from the north-dipping surface south of Disko Bugt, and (3) the east–west Sisimiut Line (SL) that coincides with the Precambrian Ikertôq thrust zone. An etch surface (ES) has been re-exposed from below Cretaceous–Palaeocene cover rocks on Nuussuaq, Disko and south of Disko Bugt. LS: Labrador Sea, BB: Baffin Bay. (Figure from /Japsen et al. 2006/, reprinted with permission from Elsevier).

Palaeoclimate research in Greenland has been dominated in recent years by ice-core studies from the central ice sheet, which initially focused on interglacial/glacial-scale climatic change /Dansgaard and Oeschger 1989, Dansgaard et al. 1993, GRIP members 1993, Dahl-Jensen et al. 1998/.

The chronology of the deglaciation is based on dating of marine shells and glacial geological studies /Ten Brink 1975, van Tatenhove et al. 1996, Humlum 1999/ and on lichenometry and luminescence dating /Forman 2008/ while the Holocene climatic evolution in the ice-free region of West Greenland largely is based on palaeoecological studies /Fredskild 1985, Eisner et al. 1995, Bennike 2000, Ryves et al. 2002, McGowan et al. 2003/, lacustrine sediments /Willemse and Törnqvist 1999/ and eolian deposits studies /Willemse et al. 2003/.

The oldest radiocarbon date on marine shells from the head of Søndre Strømfjord is 8,000 cal years BP, which provides a minimum estimate for the timing of the deglaciation of the inland /Bennike 2000, Bennike and Björck 2002/. Between the coast and the present day ice margin a succession of up to seven moraine systems has been identified /Ten Brink 1975/.

About 7000 yr BP the ice front had reached Kangerlussuaq and by 6000 yr BP it had reached the present day position /Kelly 1985, van Tatenhove et al. 1996/. It is unknown how far to the east the ice front retreated, but by comparing deglaciation dates from the moraine system before 6000 yr BP /van Tatenhove et al. 1996/ infer that the ice reached 10's of kilometres beyond the present day ice front. The recession at the beginning of the Holocene was probably a response to warmer temperatures in southwest Greenland between 8000 to 5000 yr BP /e.g. Kelly 1985, Funder and Fredskild 1989, van Tatenhove et al. 1996, Anderson et al. 1999, Bennike and Björck 2002/. From ice core records /Dahl-Jensen et al. 1998/ suggest that the maximum Holocene warmth lasted until 4000 yr BP.

Neoglacial advances started at 4000 yr BP /e.g. Kelly 1985, Willemse and Törnqvist 1999, Anderson et al. 1999, Bennike 2000/ and ended AD 1,700–1,920, during the Little Ice Age, by moraines near the position of the present day ice front /Weidick 1968/. Both Neoglacial and Little Ice Age limits occur within 2 km of the ice margin /Forman 2008/. /van Tatenhove et al. 1996/ infer that the ice stayed behind the present ice sheet margin for 6000 yr BP.

There are c. 20,000 lakes in the Søndre Strømfjord area, including approximately 12 so-called 'saline' lakes. These lakes has been used for palaeolimnologic studies /McGowan et al. 2003/ to provide information about regional climate heterogeneity and the impact from atmospheric circulation. Lake sediments close to the Greenland ice-sheet margin consist mainly of eolian silts mixed with organic material /Eisner et al. 1995/. /Willemse and Törnqvist 1999/ conducted a study on numerous small shallow lakes. The records exhibit a short-lived cooling, within the Holocene thermal maximum, around 8200 cal yr BP, recognized as the most pronounced Holocene climatic cooling with possible global significance /Alley et al. 1997/.

Arid conditions and supply of fine-grained sediments on the glacier-fed braided floodplains have resulted in extensive eolian deposits in front of the ice sheet /Willemse et al. 2003/. Studies of /Dijkmans and Törnqvist 1991, Eisner et al. 1995/ indicated that eolian sand formation dates back at least 4600 cal yr BP. Continuous records in eolian sand dunes and sand sheets etc indicate atmospheric regional deposition of silt since 4750 cal yr BP and periods of high eolian activity prior to 3400 cal yr BP and after 550 cal yr BP /Williemse et al. 2003/. /Williemse et al. 2003/ interpret the first event as due to the rerouting of meltwater channels in connection with a significant recession of the ice sheet during the mid Holocene recession. They explain the second event with local floodplain regeneration in connection with the early onset of the Little Ice age.

Sedimentary structures of eolian deposits indicate a wind direction from the ice sheet /van Tatenhove et al. 1996/. Silt influx data thus probably reflects the ability of warm maritime air to reach in towards the proglacial area /Willemse et al. 2003/. Over the period with instrumental data since AD 1873, the overall atmospheric circulation rather than temperature seems to be governing precipitation /Humlum 1999/.

5 The permafrost environment

There is generally a very poor knowledge about the permafrost conditions in the local area of interest. No deep boreholes aimed at investigating the permafrost depth have been reported. Geophysical investigations conducted have primarily been focused on the depth and conditions of the active layer for engineering related purposes /e.g. Ingeman-Nielsen 2005, Jørgensen and Andreasen 2007/.

Kangerlussuaq is located in the zone of continuous permafrost (see Figure 3-1), but not so far from the area along the coast, where the permafrost is characterised as discontinuous. /van Tatenhove and Olesen 1994/ calculated the total depth of permafrost based on temperature measurements in shallow boreholes (9–15 m) and evaluated thermal properties. For the calculations the used the equation:

$$z_p = \frac{k}{G} T_{ZAA}$$

where z_p is the depth of permafrost (m), G is the geothermal heat flux (W/m²), k is the thermal conductivity (W m⁻¹ K⁻¹) and T_{ZAA} is the temperature at the depth not influenced by the yearly cycle.

Calculated thermal properties for the Kangerlussuaq boreholes are presented in Table 5-1.

At Kangerlussuaq the permafrost depth was estimated to be 127 ± 31 m and at Sisimiut 33 ± 9 m. /van Tatenhove and Olesen 1994/ calculated a permafrost depth of 215 ± 2 m for the area north of Ilulissat, where the air temperatures are lower than at Kangerlussuaq. It is considered likely that the depth of permafrost varies across the area also due to differences in vegetation, snow cover, soil types and thermal properties of the subsurface.

/Van Tatenhove and Olesen 1994/ also presented a number of shallow and deep temperature profiles in south-west to west Greenland (see Figure 5-1).

/Villumsen et al. 2007/, in a report focused on conditions for road construction in Greenland, wrote: *"From Kangerlussuaq and northwards there is continuous permafrost which reaches depths of* \sim ¹/₂ km *in the far north"*. No information about the basis for this estimate is given. /Villumsen et al. 2007/ also reported georadar investigations along the road from Kangerlussuaq to the Inland Ice. The purpose of these investigations was to study the thickness and variation of the active layer. The evaluated thicknesses reflect the variations in temperature in the area. Close to the Inland Ice the thickness was ~2.5 m but at Kangerlussuaq only ~0.5 m.

Taliks in the continuous permafrost area can be expected where there exist sufficiently large water bodies, such as lakes and rivers. There are numerous water bodies of different size in the area. Modelling reported in /SKB 2006a/ estimates that an open talik can exist beneath a lake with an equivalent radius greater than the thickness of surrounding permafrost. A lake radius greater than 0.6 times the thickness of surrounding permafrost is sufficient for a deep lake to maintain an open talik.

An important issue for modelling of groundwater flow at the margin of the ice sheet and targeting a deep borehole is the lateral extension of permafrost beneath the ice. No information about this has been found in this literature review.

Table 5-1. Calculated thermal diffusivity (κ) and thermal conductivity (k) at Kangerlussuaq based on maximum thermal amplitudes (data from /van Tatenhove and Olesen 1994/).

Depth (m)	m (m)	ľ2	n	K (m² s⁻¹)	k (Wm⁻¹K⁻¹)
0.2 < z < 1.5	-1.341 ± 0.06	0.994	5	0.182 10 ⁻⁶ ± 0.01 10 ⁻⁶	0.2-0.61,2
2.0 < z < 15.0	-4.096 ± 0.103	0.993	13	1.695 10 ⁻⁶ ± 0.04 10 ⁻⁶	2.2–3.7 ²

¹ The upper layer is assumed to be unfrozen.

² The range in thermal conductivity is due to the uncertainty in porosity ($35 \pm 8\%$) and the uncertainty in water/ice content $\Phi_{i/w}$ (0–0.43).



Figure 5-1. Temperature profiles measured in boreholes in south-west and west Greenland. KAN = Kangerlussuaq, SIS = Sisimiut, ILU = Ilulissat and IVI = Ivittuut (southern Greenland, $61.2^{\circ}N$, $48.2^{\circ}W$). (Figure from /van Tatenhove and Olesen 1994/, reprinted with permission from John Wiley and Sons).

6 Hydrology

6.1 Surface waters

Water is generated by either melting of the surface ice and snow or at the base of the glacier or ice sheet, where the basal ice temperature is at the pressure melting point. Meltwater generated on the ice surface flows through a drainage system in the glacier.

Rather few studies have been performed concerning the hydrology of the Greenland ice sheet. /Thomsen et al. 1989/ presented a study made for planning hydro-electric power generation in the Ilulissat area. In this study they described the surface hydrology system as consisting of a large number of equidistant drainage areas which are drained through moulins into the ice sheet (see Figure 6-1).

A few investigations have given information about the subglacial hydrological conditions. The deep drilling for the NorthGRIP ice core in the centre of the Greenland ice cap, about 950 km from Kangerlussuaq, /Dahl-Jensen et al. 2003/ found water at the base of the Greenland ice sheet. Indirect evidence has been reported based on e.g. seismic investigations and ground-penetrating radar surveys. /Zwally et al. 2002/ found large seasonal variations in ice flow velocities when analysing differential GPS data at the Swiss Camp, in west-central Greenland. They suggested that these variations were due to variations in water input from the surface down to the basal hydrological system.

/Lüthi et al. 2002/ carried out measurements of ice flow in Jacobshavn Isbræ at the Disko Bay. Boreholes were drilled to the bedrock beneath the ice. Ice deformation rates and temperature were measured in these boreholes. The variations in water pressure measured yielded information about the subglacial drainage system. The data were consistent with a sediment layer, a gap conduit or a linked cavity system with transmissivities beneath the glacier between 10^{-5} and 10^{-4} m²/s.

In a project aimed at investigating the possibilities of exploiting the ice sheet's melt water, primarily for hydroelectric power generation, hydrological conditions in West Greenland were studied on the basis of topographic data /Weidick 1980, Weidick and Olesen 1980/. In this work a basin division and an estimate of the total water potential from the inland ice margin and from the coastal basins were made. Excerpts from the produced maps showing the area around Kangerlussuaq are shown in Figures 6-2 and 6-3. The precipitation data used for the individual basins were taken from map compilations published in the 1950s and 1960s supplemented with data from annual publications by the Danish Meteorological Institute.



Figure 6-1. Delineation of surface drainage basins on the Greenland ice sheet near Ilulissat (modified after /Jansson et al. 2007/. The location of Ilulissat is indicated in the figure.



Figure 6-2. Cut-out from the Hydrological Basin Map, West Greenland /Weidick and Olesen 1980/. Copyright: Geological Survey of Denmark and Greenland (GEUS). Topographic base (A649/72) Geodætisk Institut Danmark.



Figure 6-3. Detail from figure 6-2 – part around the Kangerlussuaq region (modified from /Weidick and Olesen 1980/. The location of the study area for the GAP project is illustrated in the figure. Bold black lines represent divisions between districts. The numbered areas represent individual basins.

The relation between water from precipitation and meltwater generated from glaciers including the margin of the ice sheet, was determined. The total amount of water recharge to the basins of West Greenland was estimated to be 217 km³/year water equivalent. About 12% of this was estimated to originate from general precipitation over the coastal areas. The water potential of individual basins are illustrated in Figure 6-4.

/Hardy et al. 2000/ calculated balance fluxes for the Greenland ice sheet from a high-resolution digital elevation model (DEM) and mass-balance data. They delineated ten major drainage basins, considered as independent flow units with individual mass balances. In Figure 6-5 the general pattern of flow over the ice sheet is shown together with the ten major drainage basins calculated. The total accumulation, ablation and flux within each basin were presented.

/Van de Wal and Russell 1994/ presented a comparison of measured ablation and calculated ablation as well as comparison between measured and modelled discharge. The results were based on an energy balance calculation near Kangerlussuaq. They concluded that detailed modelling of meltwater runoff from the Greenland ice sheet has large uncertainties, due to uncertainties in e.g. catchment areas, englacial storage and drainage.



Figure 6-4. Drainage patterns, basin areas and estimated water potential of basins in West Greenland (cut-out from map modified from /Weidick and Olesen 1980/. The location of the GAP Project study site is indicated. Dashed lined on the ice sheet represent elevation isolines. Copyright: Geological Survey of Denmark and Greenland (GEUS).



Figure 6-5. A) Simulation of balance fluxes across the Greenland ice sheet. B) Ten major drainage basins calculated from the balance fluxes. (Figures from /Hardy et al. 2000/, reprinted with permission from John Wiley and Sons.)

6.2 Chemistry of melt and surface waters

The water consumption in towns and villages in Greenland is based on water from local lakes and rivers. The surface water in these water courses is primarily from rain or meltwater from snow and ice. According to /Steenfelt 2004/, Table 6-1, possible contributions from groundwater cannot be excluded but are likely to be very small.

The water chemistry in a lake is likely to be related to the chemical composition of bedrock and soil in the area upstream from the lake. In a research project carried out in and around different Greenlandic villages, sediments from small streams and some lakes were sampled and analysed /Steenfelt 2004/. Kangerlussuaq samples were taken in the area south of the town. The results of the chemical analyses are shown in Table 6-2. Sampling locations are shown in Figure 6-6.

Conclusions drawn were that the chemistry of sediments reflects the geochemistry of the gneiss. The electric conductivity of the water was in general low. The measured conductivity in the small lake studied in this area was, however, high. Also the fluoride content in this water sample was much higher than normally found in small streams in western Greenland. No conclusions were drawn whether the enhanced values were natural or caused by contamination.

 Table 6-1. Chemical composition of surface water in West Greenland, 208 samples, together with

 EU Directions for Drinkwater quality (data from /Steenfelt 2004/.

Parameter	Unit	EU directions	Northern West Greenland					
		тмк	max.	min.	median	0.98%		
Elect. conductivity	µS/cm	6.5	351.0	5.2	34.6	197.4		
Al	mg/l	0.2	2.3	0.0	0.03			
Fe	µg/l	200	2081.0	0.0	17.0	397.7		
Mn	µg/l	50	198.3	0.0	0.7	79.0		
Cu	µg/l	3,000	94.0	0.1	0.6	12.0		
Zn	µg/l	5,000	153.1	0.6	3.7	60.3		
Р	µg/l	5,000						
Fluoride	µg/l	1,500						
Со	µg/l		22.7	0.0	0.0	6.9		
Ва	µg/l		163.4	0.2	2.2	64.5		
Ag	µg/l	10	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0		
As	µg/l	10	1.0	0.0	0.0	0.3		
Ве	µg/l		0.3	0.0	0.0	0.11		
Cd	µg/l	5	4.4	0.0	0.0	1.19		
Cyanide	µg/l	50						
Cr	µg/l	50	4.1	0.0	0.1	1.11		
Hg	µg/l	1						
Ni	µg/l	20	133.0	0.0	0.3	34.9		
Pb	µg/l	10	4.1	0.0	0.2	1.6		
Sb	µg/l	5	0.3	0.0	0.0	0.1		
Se	µg/l	10	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0		
V	µg/l		8.5	0.0	0.0	4.1		

Table 6-2. Concentrations of different chemical components in sediments in small streams and a small lake (GEUS nr 306538). Electric conductivity was measured in the water (data from /Steenfelt 2004/.

GEUS number		SiO ₂ %	TiO₂ %	Al ₂ O ₃ %	Fe ₂ O ₃ %	MnO %	MgO %	CaO %	Na₂O %	K₂O %	P ₂ O ₅ %	Ashrest %
306527		65.52	0.39	14.10	4.35	0.07	1.98	4.47	3.71	1.60	0.12	2.90
306528		58.24	0.44	11.92	4.19	0.08	2.01	4.21	3.00	1.33	0.19	13.70
306529		61.30	0.56	13.39	5.85	0.11	2.53	4.72	3.31	1.60	0.22	5.79
306535		61.82	0.93	13.59	7.02	0.14	2.58	4.99	3.32	1.51	0.17	3.13
306537		61.91	0.67	13.30	5.89	0.11	2.46	4.77	3.31	1.53	0.14	5.00
306538		64.32	0.69	13.90	6.36	0.12	2.82	5.23	3.46	1.56	0.19	0.75
306548		61.24	0.84	13.51	6.02	0.11	2.45	4.86	3.19	1.52	0.19	5.22
GEUS	As	Ва	Со	Cr	Cu	Ni	Pb	Sb	U	V	Zn	Water samples
number	mg/kg	mg/kg	mg/kg	mg/kg	mg/kg	mg/kg	mg/kg	mg/kg	mg/kg	mg/kg	mg/kg	µS/cm
306527	< 2	545	10	124	13	30	11	< 0.2	< 0.1	75	40	54
306528	< 2	411	15	147	56	42	9	< 0.2	< 0.1	61	34	63
306529	< 2	480	18	200	22	55	11	0.2	< 0.1	89	47	52
306535	< 2	486	16	174	22	43	12	0.2	1.1	101	59	32
306537	< 2	513	20	199	24	46	14	< 0.2	< 0.1	104	45	48
306538	< 2	462	37	130	13	61	9	< 0.2	< 0.1	108	105	440
306548	< 2	411	15	147	26	42	9	< 0.2	< 0.1	61	34	27





Figure 6-6. Sampling locations of stream sediments south of Kangerlussuaq. /Steenfelt 2004/. Copyright: Geological Survey of Denmark and Greenland (GEUS).

The area of southern West Greenland between 66° and 68° contains about 20 000 lakes /Anderson et al. 2002/. In a study including sampling and analyses of chemical composition of lake water between the ice margin and the coast in West Greenland between 66 and $67^{\circ}N$ (Figure 6-7) /Anderson et al. 2001/ reported analyses of pH, alkalinity, conductivity and major ions from over 80 lakes. Most of these lakes were found to be dilute with electric conductivities < 150 µS/cm. The pattern of cations in the freshwater lakes is Ca > Mg > Na > K. There are, however, also saline lakes (2,000–4,000 µS/cm) in this study, mainly around Kangerlussuaq. The saline lakes occur within a zone of 80 km from the ice sheet margin. Closer to the Sea where precipitation is higher, saline lakes are absent. There is in general a clear gradient in water chemistry from the west (dilute coastal waters) towards the east. The limit between saline and dilute lakes agrees reasonably with the present-day limit of negative effective precipitation. According to /Anderson et al. 2001/, groundwater inputs and outputs are assumed to be small, although there are no available data.

The saline lakes in Greenland are different from the saline lakes in the Arctic and Antarctic. The latter lakes are often formed by trapping marine water in isolated basins as a result of isostatic uplift /Burton 1981/. The West Greenland lakes have generally a lower salinity than the saline lakes in the Arctic and Antarctic, and the primary reason for enhanced salinity in these closed-basin lakes is evaporation. However, evaporation is clearly not the only cause of enhanced salinity – external inputs of salt are likely. Local geological conditions as well as elevation give rise to variability in ionic composition.

/Willemse et al. 2004/ presented detailed physical and chemical profiles of a shallow, closed-basin, subsaline lake located southeast of Kangerlussuaq and modelled the hydrological balance and annual variation in chemistry. They concluded that throughout the open water period the hydrological balance is dominated by evaporative losses. During winter freeze-out of salts and resulting deep haline convection increase the overall water column salinity.

Most hydrochemical investigations if ice and meltwater in Greenland have focused on stable isotopes and hydrochemistry related to ice-core drilling in the interior of ice-sheet. Only few studies have been made on meltwater from the marginal area. /Reeh et al. 1991/ sampled oxygen isotope profiles in the marginal ice sheet area. They concluded that three different sources of ice meltwater are present in the hydrological systems near the margin of the ice sheet; superimposed ice, basal up-sheared ice and englacial ice.



Figure 6-7. Location map of lakes studied by /Anderson et al. 2001/. The approximate position of the present-day limit of negative effective precipitation is indicated (----). Reprinted with permission from the Institute of Arctic and Alpine Research.

/Yde and Knudsen 2004/ carried out stable oxygen isotope analyses of bulk meltwater samples at Imersuaq Glacier, about 100 km south of Kangerlussuaq. A marked diurnal variation of δ^{18} O was interpreted to be related mainly to the composition of oxygen isotope provenances, mainly near-marginal local superimposed ice and basal up-sheared ice further up-glacier.

In another study of glacier hydrochemistry, conducted at the Kuannersuit Glacier, Disko Island, /Yde et al. 2005/ sampled bulk meltwaters in order to examine fluxes of major ions from a subglacial outlet. The results are summarised in Table 6-3. It should be noted that the hydrochemistry in this area is considerably affected by the subglacial basaltic weathering with absence of carbonate minerals.

Since the Greenland ice sheet constitutes a potential resource for export of drinking water, detailed analyses of different environmentally hazardous compounds, 72 different pesticides, 15 PAH's and 7 PCB's, were carried out in a research project /Bender et al. 2003/. The chosen glacier is located near Narssasuaq. The ice from this glacier did not have contents of any of the pesticides, PAH's or PCB's above the detection limits.

6.3 Data from other areas

Data on the hydrochemistry of glacial meltwaters have been presented from different glaciated environments. Observations of the variability of the chemical composition of meltwaters have been used to interpret the evolution of the hydrological system in time and space /e.g. Richards et al. 1996, Tranter et al. 1996, 1997, Theakstone and Knudsen 1996, Wadham et al. 2000/.

/Brown 2002/ presented a review of glacier meltwater hydrochemistry. Most of these data come from valley glaciers. Table 6-4 shows a compilation of dissolved ion concentrations. The results indicate that the dominant cation is Ca^{2+} , with lesser quantities of Mg^{2+} , Na^+ and K^+ . The dominant anions are HCO_3^- and SO_4^{2-} . The studies reviewed by /Brown 2002/ also show that the rate of chemical weathering is high in glacial environments.

		pH (µeql⁻¹)	Na⁺ (µeql⁻¹)	K⁺ (µeql⁻¹)	Са²+ (µeqI⁻¹)	Mg²+ (µeql⁻¹)	Cl⁻ (µeql⁻¹)	NO₃ [–] (µeql [–] 1)	SO4²- (µeql⁻¹)	alk (µeql⁻¹)	<mark>∆Z</mark> (µeqI⁻¹)	Si (mgl⁻¹)	Fe (mgŀ¹)	AI (mgl⁻¹)	lon strength (µeql⁻¹)
Group A	Max		170	4.6	220	150	58	25	66		470		4.7	4.6	1,100
(n=71)	Min		82	0.7	120	36	16	3.8	1.5		170		0.6	0.4	520
	Mean		120	2.2	60	73	25	14	8.9		310		1.8	1.7	720
Group B	Max									580					
(n=20)	Min									160					
	Mean									330					
Group C	Max	8.5	150	2.8	150	42	25	25	20	530	-280	4.6	0.8	0.9	740
(n=9)	Min	7.8	95	1.4	100	19	6.9	_	6.1	420	-170	2.0	0.1	0.1	520
	Mean	8.1	110	2.1	130	29	13	_	13	460	-220	3.2	0.4	0.4	640
Multisampling	Max	8.4	130	2.9	130	31	38	10	25	480	-270	4.6	0.5	0.5	680
(n=5)	Min	8.2	110	1.6	120	21	12	1.4	12	440	-190	3.7	0.1	0.1	610
	Mean	8.3	120	2.3	130	28	18	5.2	16	460	-230	4.1	0.3	0.4	650
	SD	0.1	10	0.5	1.6	3.6	11	3.8	5.3	18	34	0.3	0.2	0.2	26
Group D	Max	7.8	150	3.9	190	79	100	18	43	450	-170	8.5	2.1		890
(n=29)	Min	7.2	81	1.8	150	25	8.3	_	13	280	-15	2.9	0.0		630
	Mean	7.4	110	2.5	170	42	30	_	19	330	-58	4.3	0.5		720

 Table 6-3. Ion concentration characteristics of bulk meltwaters at Kuannersuit Glacier. (data from /Yde and Knudsen 2005/. The four groups represent different sampling and analysis strategies.

 ΔZ denotes the deficit in charge balance, Alk represents the total concentration of HCO₃⁻ and CO₃²⁻, and has been corrected for the acidification effect during titration.

Table 6-4. Major dissolved ions in meltwaters draining selected glaciers (data from /Brown 2002/References in /Brown 2002/.

Major dissolved ion concentrations measured in meltwaters draining selected glaciers^a

		Ca ²⁺	Mg ²⁺	Na⁺	K⁺	HCO3-	CI-	SO4 ²⁻	NO₃⁻
/Anderson et al. 2000/	Bench Glacier (Alaska)	550	36	25	61	427	2	262	_
/Brown et al. 1996b/	Haut Glacier d' Arolla (Switzerland)	160–470	15–49	5.1–36	5.4–18	180–360	0.85–92	30–240	0.0–30
/Brown unpublished)/	Nigardsbreen (Norway)	8.8–38	1.6–7.8	8.3–25	0.98-4.4	1.4-8.5	9.8–25	7–41	1.9–11
/Collins 1979/	Gornergletscher (Switzerland)	130–334	16–190	8.7–43	2.6–33	_	_	_	_
/De Mora et al. 1994/	Walcott Glacier (Antarctica)	226-1,292	16–188	17–97	2.3–33	206–1,030	9.5–87	42–678	_
/De Mora et al. 1994/	Koettlitz Glacier (Antarctica)	72–92	5.8–6.6	11–34	0.77–6.9	91–132	0.55–1.2	3.4-7.6	_
/De Mora et al. 1994/	Howchin Glacier (Antarctica)	1,072–1,342	122–194	364–610	44–68	1,360–1,560	119–257	342–1,165	_
/De Mora et al. 1994/	Ward Glacier (Antarctica)	722–828	288–336	879–1,436	90–109	1,080–1,450	667–1,020	218–230	_
/Eyles et al. 1982/	Berendon (Canada)	90–763	1.6–19	0.87-7.8	0.38–5.1	230–785	25–27		
/Fairchild et al. 1994a/	Tsanfleuron (Switzerland)	638	92	4.9	6.3	627	5.5	118	11
/Hasnain et al. 1989/	Chhota-Shigri	75–260	6.6–41	25–65	22–51	_	_	_	_
/Hodgkins et al. 1998/	Scott Turnerbreen (Svalbard)	120-300	99–290	110–740	5.1–19	110–260		96–200	_
/Raiswell and Thomas 1984/	Fjallsjökull (Iceland)	208–274	32–60	30–120	2.8–7.2	190–300		26–66	_
/Rainwater and Guy 1961/	Chamberlain (USA)	75–304	8.2–123	4.3-8.7	0.0–5.1	150–200	5.6–20	29–310	_
/Ruffles 1999/	Engabreen (Norway)	82–623	4–65	11–212	0–27	51–675	10–191	0–142	0–15
/Steinpórsson and Óskarsson 1983/	Grimsvotn (Iceland)	359	115	482	12	573	87	132	_
/Theakstone and Knudsen 1996/	Austre Okstindbreen (Norway)	411–281	8.2–41	15–137	4.3–29	_	_	_	_
/Thomas and Raiswell 1984/	Argentière (France)	20-480	6–66	10–89	6–5.2	110–400	_	10–60	_
/Livingstone 1963/b	North America	1,048	211	391	36	1,114	226	416	16
/Livingstone 1963/b	Europe	1,552	461	235	43	1,557	195	500	60
/Livingstone 1963/b	Asia	918	461	404	_	1,294	245	175	11
/Livingstone 1963/b	World	749	337	274	59	957	220	233	16

^a Units are in µeq I⁻¹. Where a single figure is presented this represents the mean concentration. Where two figures are presented separated by a rule this represents the range of concentrations measured.

^b Mean composition of river waters cited in Holland (1978).

7 Hydrogeology and groundwater

7.1 Groundwater flow

There is generally little known about the groundwater conditions beneath deep permafrost in crystalline rock environments. In the Kangerlussuaq area there is no information at all about groundwater available in the literature. No groundwater wells seem to have been drilled through the permafrost. A number of deep boreholes have been drilled for diamond exploration purposes, but no data from these have been presented in open literature.

A number of hydrogeological studies have been carried out in the area around Sisimiut by the Arctic Technology Centre (ARTEK) at the Technical University of Denmark. /Hansen et al. 1998/ reported about a project aimed at finding useful groundwater resources in fracture zones in the bedrock. VLF measurements were carried out to identify the fracture zones and a 20 m deep well was drilled in bedrock consisting of gneiss and amphibolite. However, the well yield was much too low for the demands.

/Matthiesen et al. 2009/ carried out investigations at Andenfjorden, north of Sisimiut, where a hydropower plant is under construction. A well, which provides water to the construction site, has been established at a natural spring. Test pumpings have been conducted giving an estimate of the transmissivity of the sediment layers. No hydrogeological data from the 4 km long rock tunnel being excavated were presented in this report, but comparisons of the hydrogeochemical composition between well water and tunnel water were made.

It can be expected that an overall flow of deep groundwater in the study area of the GAP project occurs from the bedrock underneath the Inland Ice towards the Sea. The dominant fracture orientation in the region appears to be parallel to the regional tectonic foliation, i e ENE-WSW. Other fracture sets are oriented close to N-S and NW-SE. In the area of continuous permafrost, major groundwater discharge is likely to occur only through taliks beneath larger lakes and rivers. If there exist any larger deformation zones with high transmissivity, these zones may stay partly unfrozen and provide pathways for groundwater flow.

Although permafrost is not absolutely impermeable, significant groundwater recharge in the continuous permafrost area is not likely. Hence no active groundwater circulation is expected to occur.

7.2 Hydrochemistry of groundwater

A study of /Scholz and Baumann 1997/ at the tip of the Leverett Glacier (Figure 7-1), has brought some light on possible circulation of deep seated water from below the permafrost to the surface. Water samples were collected from a spring on top of an open system pingo located immediately in front of the glacier within a complex of crescent-shaped moraine ridges. According to the authors, the chemical analyses (see Tables 7-1 and 7-2) confirm that the spring water is not meltwater.

The high concentrations of dissolved substances show it to be Ca-Mg-HCO₃-SO₄-Cl type water, which can be described as highly mineralised compared with groundwater from other crystalline regions. The high bromide, chloride and sulphate contents suggest the origin of the water is deep seated, probably deriving from faults in the crystalline rocks below the permafrost. The water may be of thermal (\geq 20°C) origin, since the contents of fluoride, aluminium and gold are relatively high /Scholz and Baumann 1997/.



Figure 7-1. Location of the open-system pingo at the Leverett glacier /Scholz and Baumann 1997/. Copyright: Geological Survey of Denmark and Greenland (GEUS). The map is based on a 1:100 000 topographical map /Greenland Tourism 1995/.

1 litre of water	mg/l	equivalent mmol/l	equivalent %
Cations			
Sodium	13.70	0.596	13.62
Potassium	5.32	0.136	3.11
Calcium	41.20	2.056	46.98
Magnesium	19.30	1.588	36.29
Sum	68.52	4.376	100.00
Anions			
Fluoride	0.55	0.029	0.67
Chloride	39.13	1.104	25.49
Bromide	1.14	0.014	0.33
Nitrate	0.26	0.004	0.10
Sulphate	70.90	1.476	34.09
Hydrogen carbonate	103.90	1.703	39.33
Hydrogen phosphate	< 0.10	-	-
Sum	295.40	4.330	100.00
Temperature (not tested) Electric conductivity pH Error of ion balance (%) Hardness (mmol) Hardness (°d)	cold, but a few (415 (µS/cm) 6.34 1.1 1.8 10.2 (soft)	degrees above zero	

Table 7-1.	Chemical analysi	s of spring water s	sample "Leverett	Glacier", West	Greenland
(data fron	n /Scholz and Bau	mann 1997/.			

Hydrogen sulphide may originally have been present, but has reacted with oxygen.

-					
Ag	< 0.1	Cr	1.70	Sb	< 0.1
Al	451.40	Cu	5.39	Si	5.70
Au	0.30	Li	1.30	Sn	0.54
Ва	57.20	Mn	330.0	Sr	< 100
Be	< 0.1	Мо	1.49	TI	< 0.1
Br	< 0.1	Ni	4.00	V	4.10
Cd	< 0.1	Pb	0.10	Zn	5.02
Co	0.80	Rb	7.50	Fe	6,000

 Table 7-2. Trace element content of spring water sample "Leverett Glacier" (data from /Scholz and Baumann 1997/.

Elements are in µg/l.

7.3 Data from other areas

Unfrozen water in permafrost areas is in general relatively dilute if it is derived from the active layer where groundwater residence times are short. In coastal areas unfrozen water is however usually more saline. /Gascoyne 2000/ described two sources of the salt: 1) pore fluids that were included with the sediments during the time of deposition from saline water and 2) higher salinity waters formed by salt-rejection processes during permafrost aggradation.

Groundwater chemistry in the active layer from the subglacial zone of a glacier on Svalbard was sampled and analysed by /Cooper et al. 2002/. They compared the chemical composition with the bulk meltwater chemistry presented by /Wadham et al. 2001/ from the same site. Conclusions drawn were that HCO_3^- as well as Ca^{2+} and SO_4^{2-} concentrations were higher in the groundwater than in the meltwater. Temporal variations are shown in Figure 7-2.

Fluid salinity has been found to increase with depth in crystalline Shields, with reported salinities higher than 320 g/l in Canada, and even higher in Russia, according to a compilation by /Frape et al. 2004a/. The origin and formation of shield brines in crystalline rocks is explained by movement of external waters of marine origin into the crystalline rock /eg Bottomley and Clark 2004, Starinsky and Katz 2003/, recharge of glacial meltwater /e.g. Clark et al. 2000/ and *in situ* water-rock interactions /e.g. Fuge 1979, Nordstrom et al. 1989/.

/Starinsky and Katz 2003/ suggested that brines formed from surficial freezing of marine waters, and recharged deep into the crystalline shield during glacial times. They propose that the highly saline subsurface water is due to cryogenic brine formation which occurred as part of a highly dynamic flow system. Brines were formed from seawater within cryogenic troughs, along the subarctic continental margins, around ice sheets. Their emplacement in their present sites occurred most likely within the Pleistocene.

A new concept to shield brines in permafrost areas was put forward by /Stotler 2008/ who inferred that the concentrative mechanism can be in situ freeze out processes driven by permafrost and/ or methane hydrate formation, thus resulting in an enrichment of heavier solutes in the remaining liquid. He discounted the hypothesis put forward by /Starinsky and Katz 2003/.

/Stotler 2008/ based his concept on a comprehensive investigation of the hydrochemistry of groundwaters within and below thick permafrost in Canada, at the Lupin mine in Nunavut /Ruskeeniemi et al. 2002, 2004, Frape et al. 2004b, Stotler 2008/.

Subpermafrost waters, sampled in boreholes at a depth of approximately 700–1,100 m at the Lupin mine, are of Na-Ca-Cl or Ca-Na-Cl type /Stotler 2008/. The relationship of Na/Cl and Br/Cl ratios (see Figure 7-3) differ from that of seawater evaporation /Mc Caffrey et al. 1987/.

Salinities range between 2.6 to 40 g/L, reflecting different fracture networks of different salinities and densities. The low salinities are explained by dissociation of methane hydrates due to the lowering of pressures accompanied by mining activity and taliks. Methane hydrates are stable well beneath the base of the permafrost, but likely not directly beneath hydrothermal through-taliks. Melting of gas hydrates can subsequently cause a dilution in groundwaters /Hesse 2003/.



Figure 7-2. Temporal variations in the concentrations of HCO_3^- , Ca^{2+} and SO_4^{2-} in wells and bulk meltwaters (Figure from /Coopet et al. 2002/, reprinted with permission from Elsevier).



Figure 7-3. Diagrams showing the relationships Na/Cl vs Br/Cl. /Stotler 2008/. Diagrams B and C show results from Lupin.

Rock matrix fluids from crush and leach experiments from several boreholes at the Lupin mine are dilute and appear to have little effect on groundwater salinity /Stotler 2008/. However, high salinity Ca/Mg fluid inclusions were observed in calcite fracture fillings (> 26%) that might provide a small source of salinity and Ca to the subpermafrost waters.

The nature of gases observed at the Lupin mine were generally methane-dominated, with a unique isotopic composition compared to other shield gases, which is explained by a connection to meta-morphism of marine turbidities at 1.8–2.8 Ga. The gas is inferred to be of thermogenic origin, however a generally low δ^2 H-CH₄ cannot be explained.

Age tracers ²H, ¹⁴C, and ³⁶Cl from subpermafrost waters suggest input of modern fresh water, a recharge event 25,000 years ago and subpermafrost waters with an age > 0.5–1 million year old, which is the limit of ³⁶Cl dating technique /Phillips 2000/. The subpermafrost waters described above exclude brines formed from surficial freezing of marine waters, during glacial times.

Depletion of δ^2 H and δ^{18} O in Canadian Shield sites may be indicative of either glacial meltwater recharge or *in situ* freeze-out /Stotler 2008/. From his studies at the Lupin mine and other data from the Canadian shield, /Stotler 2008/ thus concludes that shield brines might form from intruded glacial meltwater or waters from permafrost and/or methane hydrate formation.

8 References

SKB's (Svensk Kärnbränslehantering AB) publications can be found at www.skb.se/publications.

Ahonen L, 2001. Permafrost: occurrence and physicochemical processes. Posiva Report 2001-05. Posiva Oy, Helsinki, Finland.

Alley R B, Mayewski P A, Sowers T, Stuiver M, Taylor K C, Clark P U, 1997. Holocene climate instability: a prominent, widespread event 8,200 yr ago. Geology, 25, 483–486.

Anderson N J, Bennike O, Christoffersen K, Jeppesen E, Markager S, Miller G, Renberg L, 1999. Limnological and palaeolimnological studies of lakes in south-western Greenland. Geology of Greenland Survey Bulletin, 183, 68–74.

Anderson N J, Harriman R, Ryves D B, Patrick S T, 2001. Dominant factors controlling variability in the ionic composition of West Greenland lakes. Arctic, Antarctic, and Alpine Research, 33, 4, 418–425.

Anderson N J, Fritz S C, Gibson C E, Hasholt B, Leng M J, 2002. Lake-catchment interactions with climate in the low Arctic of southern West Greenland. Geology of Greenland Survey Bulletin, 191, 144–149.

Bender M, Felding G, Suhr Jacobsen C, 2003. Water quality of the Greenland ice cap. Danmarks og Grønlands Geologiske Undersøgelse Rapport 2003/22.

Bennike O, 1998. Pingos at Nioghalvfjerdsfjorden, eastern North Greenland. Geology of Greenland Survey Bulletin, 180, 159–162.

Bennike O, 2000. Palaeoecological studies of Holocene lake sediments from west Greenland. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, 155, 285–304.

Bennike O, Björck S, 2002. Chronology of the last recession of the Greenland Ice sheet. Journal of Quaternary Science, 17, 211–219.

Bense V F, Person M A, 2008. Transient hydrodynamics within intercratonic sedimentary basins during glacial cycles. Journal of Geophysical Research, F04005, 113, 17p, doi10.1029/2007JF000969.

Bonow J M, 2005. Re-exposed basement landforms in the Disko region, West Greenland – disregarded data for estimation of glacial erosion and uplift modelling, Geomorphology, 72, 106–127.

Bonow J M, Lidmar-Bergström K, Japsen P, 2006. Palaeosurfaces in central West Greenland as reference for identification of tectonic movements and estimation of erosion. Global and Planetary Change, 50, 161–183.

Bottomley D J, Clark I D, 2004. Potassium and boron co-depletion in Canadian Shield brines: evidence for diagenetic interactions between marine brines and basin sediments. Chemical Geology, 203, 225–236.

Boulton G S, Zatsepin S, Maillot B, 2001. Analysis of groundwater flow beneath ice sheets. SKB TR-01-06, Svensk Kärnbränslehantering AB.

Breemer C W, Clark P U, Haggerty R, 2002. Modeling the subglacial hydrology of the late Pleistocen Lake Michigan Lobe, Laurentide Ice Sheet. GSA Bulletin, 114, 665–674.

Bridgwater D, Austrheim H, Hansen B T, Mengel F, Pedersen S, Winter J, 1990. The Proterozoic Nagssugtoqidian mobile belt of southeast Greenland: A link between the eastern Canadian and Baltic shields. Geoscience Canada, 17, 305–310.

Bridgwater D, Mengel F, Fryer B, Wagner P, Hansen S, 1995. Early Proterozoic mafic dykes in the North Atlantic and Baltic Cratons: Field settings and chemistry of distinctive dykes swarms. In Early Precambrian processes. Edited by M.P. Coward and A.C. Ries. Geological Society, Special Publication 95, pp. 193–210.

Brown G H, 2002. Review. Glacier meltwater hydrochemistry. Applied Geochemistry, 17, 855–883.

Burton H R, 1981. Chemistry, physics and evolution of Antarctic saline lakes. A review. Hydrobiologia, 82, 339–362.

Cadman A C, Tarney J, Bridgwater D, Mengel F, Whitehouse M J, Windley B F, 2001. The petrogenesis of the Kangâmiut dyke swarm, W. Greenland. Precambrian Research, 105, 183–203.

Chalmers J A, Pulvertaft T C R, 2001. Development of the continental margins of the Labrador Sea: a review. In: Wilson, R C L, Whitmarsh, R B, Taylor, B and Froitzheim, N (Eds.), Nonvolcanic Rifting of Continental Margins: A Comparison of Evidence from Land and Sea. Geological Society of London, Special Publications, 187, 77–105.

Christiansen F G, Boesen A, Bojesen-Koefoed J A, Chalmers J A, Dalhoff F, Dam G, Hjortkjær B F, Kristensen L, Larsen L M, Marcussen C, Mathiesen A, Nøhr-Hansen H, Pedersen A K, Pedersen G K, Pulvertaft T C R, Skaarup N, Sønderholm M, 1999. Petroleum geological activities in West Greenland in 1988, Geol. Greenl. Surv. Bull., 183, 46–56.

Christiansen H H, Humlum O, 2000. Permafrost. In: Jakobsen B H et al. (eds), Topografisk Atlas Grønland. Det Kongelige Danske Geografiske Selskab og Kort & Matrikelstyrelsen.

Clark I D, Douglas M, Raven K, Bottomley D, 2000. Recharge and preservation of Laurentide glacial melt water in the Canadian Shield. Ground Water, 5, 735–742.

Connelly J N, Mengel F C, 2000. Evolution of Archean components in the Nagssugtoqidian Orogen, West Greenland. Geological Society of America Bulletin, 112, 747–763.

Connelly J N, van Gool J A M, Mengel F C, 2000. Temporal evolution of a deeply eroded orogen: the Nagssugtoqidian Orogen, West Greenland. Can. J Earth Science, 37, 1121–1142.

Cooper R J, Wadham J L, Tranter M, Hodgkins R, Peters N E, 2002. Groundwater hydrochemistry in the active layer of the proglacial zone, Finsterwalderbreen, Svalbard. Journal of Hydrology, 269, 208–223.

Dahl-Jensen D, Mosegaard K, Gundetsrup N, Clow G D, Johnsen S J, Hansen A W, Balling N, 1998. Past temperatures directly from the Greenland Ice sheet. Science, 282, 268–271.

Dahl-Jensen D, Gundestrup N, Gogineni P, Miller H, 2003. Basal melt at NorthGRIP modelled from borehole, ice-core and radio-echo sounder observations. Ann. Glaciol., 37, 207–212.

Dallimore S R, Collett T S, 1995. Intrapermafrost gas hydrates from a deep core hole in the McKenzie Delta, Northwest Territories, Canada. Geology, 23 (6), 527–530.

Dansgaard W, Oeschger H, 1989. Past environmental long-term records from the Arctic. In: Oeschger, H and Langway, C C Jr (eds). The environmental record in glaciers. Chichester. Wiley, 287–318.

Dansgaard W, Johnsen S J, Clausen H B, Dahl-Jensen D, Gundestrup N S, Hammer C U, Hvidberg C S, Steffensen J P, Sveinbjörnsdottir A E, Jouzel J, Bond, G, 1993. Evidence for general instability of past climate from a 250-kyr ice-core record. Nature, 364, 218–220.

Dijkmans J W A, Törnqvist T E, 1991. Modern periglacial eolian deposits and landforms in the Søndre Strømfjord area, West Greenland and their palaeoenvironmental implications. Meddelelser om Grønland Geoscience, 25, 1–39.

Eisner W R, Törnqvist T E, Koster E A, Bennike O, van Leeuwen J F N, 1995. Palaeoecological studies of a Holocene lacustrine record from the Kangerlussuaq (Søndre Strømfjord) region of West Greenland. Quaternary Research, 43, 55–66.

Escher A, Escher J C, Watterson J, 1975. The reorientation of the Kangâmiut dyke swarm, West Greenland. Canadian Journal of Earth Sciences, 12, 158–173.

Flowers G E, Clark G K C, 2002a. Multicomponent coupled model of glacier hydrology. 1. Theory and synthetic examples. J Geoph. Res., 107, B11, doi:10.1029/2001JB0011122.

Flowers G E, Clark G K C, 2002b. A multicomponent coupled model of glacier hydrology. 2. Application to Trapridge Glacier, Yukon, Canada. J Geoph. Res., 107, B11, doi: 1029/2001JB001124.

Forman S L, 2008. Little Ice Age and neoglacial landforms at the Inland Ice margin, Isunguata Sermia, Kangerlussuaq, west Greenland. Boreas, 36 (4), 341–351.

Frape S K, Blyth A, Blomqvist R, McNutt R H, Gascoyne M, 2004a. Deep fluid in the continents: II. Crystalline rocks, pp. 541–580. In: Surface and ground water, weathering, and soils (ed J I Drever), v 5 Treatise on geochemistry (eds H D Holland and K K Turekian), Elsevier-Pergamon, Oxford.

Frape S K, Stotler R L, Ruskeeniemi T, Ahonen L, Paananen M, Hobbs M Y, 2004b. Hydrogeochemistry of groundwaters at and below the base of the permafrost at Lupin: Report of Phase II. Report no: 06819-REP-01300-10047-R00. Ontario Power Generation, Toronto, Ontario, Canada.

Fredskild B, 1985. Holocene pollen records from West Greenland. In: Andrews, J.T.(ed), Quaternary Environments: Eastern Canadian Arctic, Baffin Bay, and Western Greenland, Allen and Unwin, Boston, pp. 643–681.

French H M, 1996. The periglacial environment. Addison Wesley Longman Limited, Harlow, Essex, England, 2nd edition.

Fuge R, 1979. Water-soluble chlorine in granitic rocks. Chemical Geology, 25, 169–174.

Funder S, 1989. Quaternary geology of the ice-free areas and adjacent shelves of Greenland. In: Fulton, R J (ed), Quaternary Geology of Canada and Greenland, Geology of Canada, Vol 1, Geological Society of America, Geological Society of Canada, pp. 741–792.

Funder S, Fredskild B, 1989. Paleofaunas and floras (Greenland). In Fulton, R. J. (ed): Quaternary Geology of Canada and Greenland, 775–783. Geological Survey of Canada, Ottawa.

Funder S, Hansen L, 1996. The Greenland ice sheet- a model for its culmination and decay during and after the last glacial maximum. Bull. Geol. Soc. of Denmark, 42, 137–142.

Gascoyne M, 2000. A review of published literature on the effects of permafrost on the hydrogeochemistry of bedrock. Posiva Report 2000-09. Posiva Oy, Helsinki, Finland.

GRIP members, 1993. Climate instability during the last interglacial period recorded in the GRIP ice core, Nature, 364, 203–207.

Grocott J, 1979. Shape fabrics and superimposed simple shear strain in a Precambrian shear belt, West Greenland. Journal of the Geological Society of London, 136, 471–488.

Hansen H H, Løffler A, Michaelsen J, Petersen A, 1998. Grundvandsprospektering i arktiske områder. Department of Geology and Geotechnical engineering, Danmarks tekniske universitet, Lyngby. ARTEK report 98-08.

Hardy R J, Bamber J L, Orford S, 2000. The delineation of drainage basins on the Greenland ice sheet for mass-balance analyses using a combined modelling and geographical information system approach. Hydrological Processes, 14, 1931–1941.

Hesse R, 2003. Pore water anomalies of submarine gas hydrate zones. Earth-Science Reviews, 61, 149–179.

Hoffman P F, 1990. Dynamics of the tectonic assembly of northeast Laurentia in geon 18 (1.9–1.8 Ga). Geoscience Canada, 17, 222–226.

Humlum O, 1999. Late-Holocene climate in central West Greenland: meteorological data and rock glacier isotope evidence. The Holocene, 9, 581–594.

Ingeman-Nielsen T, 2005. Geophysical techniques applied to permafrost investigations in Greenland. PhD-thesis, BYG DTU R-123, Arctic Technology Centre, Dept of Civil Engineering, Technical Univ of Denmark.

Jansson P, Näslund J-O, Rodhe L, 2007. Ice sheet hydrology – a review. SKB TR-06-34, Svensk Kärnbränslehantering AB.

Japsen P, Bonow J M, Green P F, Chalmers J A, Lidmar-Bergström K, 2006. Elevated, passive continental margins: long-term highs or Neogene uplifts? New evidence from West Greenland. Earth and Planetary Science Letters, 248, 330–339.

Jaquet O, Siegel P, 2003. Groundwater flow and transport modelling during a glaciation period. SKB R-03-04, Svensk Kärnbränslehantering AB.

Jørgensen A S, Andreasen F, 2007. Mapping of permafrost surface using ground-penetrating radar at Kangerlussuaq Airport, western Greenland. Cold Regions Science and Technology, 48, 64–72.

Kalsbeek F, Pidgeon R T, Taylor P N, 1987. Nagssugtoqidian mobile belt of Wset Greenland: cryptic 1850 Ma suture between tow Archean continents – chemical and isotopic evidence. Earth and Planetary Science Letters, 65, 265–385.

Kalsbeek F, Nutman A P, 1996. Anatomy of the Early Proterozoic Nagssugtoqidian Orogen, West Greenland, explored by reconnaissance SHRIMP U–Pb dating. Geology, 24, 515–518.

Kelly M, 1985. A review of the Quaternary geology of Western Greenland. In "Quaternary Environments Eastern Canadian Arctic, Baffin Bay and Western Greenland" (J T, Andrews, Ed), pp. 525–560. Geobooks, Norwich, England.

King S D, Anderson D L, 1998. Edge-driven convection, Earth Planet. Sci. Lett., 160, 289–296.

Korstgård J A, Møller Stensgaard B, Rasmussen T M, 2006. Magnetic anomalies and metamorphic boundaries in the southern Nagssugtoqidian orogen, West Greenland. Geological Survey of Denmark and Greenland Bulletin, 11, 179–184.

Lemieux J-M, Sudicky E A, Peltier W R, Tarasov L, 2008a. Dynamics of groundwater recharge and seepage over the Canadian landscape during the Wisconsinian glaciation. Journal of Geophys. Res., 113, F01011, 18 p.

Lemieux J-M, Sudicky E A, Peltier W R, Tarasov L, 2008b. Simulating the impact of glaciations on continental groundwater flow systems: 1. Relevant processes and model formulation. Journal of Geophys. Res., 113, F03017, 12 p.

Lemieux J-M, Sudicky E A, Peltier W R, Tarasov L, 2008c. Simulating the impact of glaciations on continental groundwater flow systems: 2. Model application to the Wisconsinian glaciation over the Canadian landscape. Journal of Geophys. Res., 113, F03018, 18 p.

Lüthi M, Funk M, Iken A, Gogineni S, Truffer M, 2002. Mechanisms of fast flow in Jacobshavn Isbræ, West Greenland: Part III. Measurements of ice deformation, temperature and cross-borehole conductivity in boreholes to the bedrock. Journal of Glaciology, 48 (162), 369–385.

Marker M, Mengel F, van Gool J, field party, 1995. Evolution of the Palaeoproterozoic Nagssugtoqidian Orogen: DLC investigations in West Greenland. In Rapport Grønlands Geologiske Undersøgelse, 165, 100–105.

Matthiesen B, Rokkjaer Dahl R, Madsen L K, 2009. Grundvandsundersøgelser i Grønland. Bachelorprojekt. ARTEK report 09-27.

McCaffrey M A, Lazar B, Holland H D, 1987. The evaporation path of seawater and the coprecipitation of Br- and K+ with halite. Journal of Sedimentary Petrology, 57, 928–937.

McGowan S, Ryves D B, Anderson N J, 2003. Holocene records of effective precipitation in West Greenland.

McKenzie D, Nimmo F, Jackson J A, Gans P B, Miller E L, 2000. Characteristics and consequences of flow in the lower crust, J. Geophys. Res., 105, 11029–11046.

Moeller C A, Mickelson D M, Anderson M P, Winguth C, 2007. Groundwater flow beneath Late Weichselian glacier ice in Nordfjord, Norway. Journal of Glaciology, 53, 84–90.

Moyen J F, Garde A A, Steenfelt A, 2003. Plain, boring orthogneisses? Geochemistry of the Archaean grey gneisses in the northern Nagssugtoqidian belt. Workshop on Precambrian geology of central West Greenland, February 28 and March 1, 2003, p.10. Copenhagen: Geological Survey of Denmark and Greenland.

Nordstrom D K, Lindblom S, Donahoe R J, Barton C Cl, 1989. Fluid inclusions in the Stripa granite and their possible influence on the groundwater chemistry. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta, 53, 1741–1755.

Park R G, 1994. Early Proterozoic tectonic overview of the northern British Isles and neighbouring terrains in Laurentia and Baltica. Precambrian Research, 68, 65–79.

Person M, McIntosh J, Bense V, Remenda V H, 2007. Plestocene hydrology of North America: The role of ice sheets in reorganizing groundwater flow systems. Reviews of Geophysics, 45, RG3007, 1–28.

Phillips F M, 2000. Chlorine-36. In: Environmental Tracers in Subsurface Hydrology. Cook, P and Herczeg, A L (eds), Kluwer Academic Publishers, pp. 299–348.

Piotrowski J A, 2006. Groundwater under ice sheets and glaciers. In: Glacier science and environmental change (ed P G Knight), Blackwell Publishing, pp. 50–60.

Praeg D, Stoker M S, Shannon P M, Ceramicola S, Hjelstuen B O, Laberg J S, Mathiesen, A,
2005. Episodic Cenozoic tectonism and the development of the NW European 'passive' continental margin, Mar. Pet. Geol., 22, 977–1005.

Provost A M, Voss C I, Neuzil C E, 1998. Glaciation and regional ground-water flow in the Fennoscandian Shield. SKI Report 96:11.

Rech N, Oerter H, Letréguilly A, Miller H, Hubberton H-W, 1991. A new, detailedice-age oxygen-18 record from the ice-sheet margin in central West Greenland, Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology, 90, 373–383.

Richards K, Sharp M, Arnold N, Gurnell A, Clark M, Tranter M, Nienow P, Brown G, Willis I, Lawson W, 1996. An integrated approach to modelling hydrology and water quality in glacierized catchments. Hydrological Processes, 10, 479–508.

Rohrman M, van der Beek P, 1996. Cenozoic postrift domal uplift of North Atlantic margins: an asthenospheric diapirism model. Geology, 24, 901–904.

Ruskeeniemi T, Paananen M, Ahonen L, Kaija J, Kuivamäki A, Frape S, Morén L, Degnan P, 2002. Permafrost at Lupin. Report of Phase I. Geological Survey of Finland, Nuclear Waste Disposal Research. Report YST-112.

Ruskeeniemi T, Ahonen L, Paananen M, Frape S, Stotler R, Hobbs M, Kaija J, Degnan P, Blomqvist R, Jensen M, Lehto K, Morén L, Puigdomenech I, Snellman M, 2004. Permafrost at Lupin. Report of Phase II. Geological Survey of Finland, Nuclear Waste Disposal Research. Report YST-119.

Ryves D B, McGowan S, Anderson N J, 2002. Development and evaluation of a diatom-conductivity model from lakes in West Greenland. Freshwater Biology, 47, 995–1014.

Schmidt A G, Riisager P, Abrahamsen N, Riisager J, Pedersen A K, van der Voe R, 2005. Palaeomagnetism of Eocene Talerua Member lavas on Hareøen, West Greenland, Bull. Geol. Soc. Den., 52, 27–39.

Scholz H, Baumann M, 1997. An "open system pingo" near Kangerlussuaq (Søndre Strømfjord), West Greenland. Geology of Greenland Survey Bulletin, 176, 104–108.

SKB, **2006a**. Climate and climate-related issues for the safety assessment SR-Can. SKB TR-06-23, Svensk Kärnbränslehantering AB.

SKB, **2006b**. Geosphere process report for the safety assessment SR-Can. SKB TR-06-19, Svensk Kärnbränslehantering AB.

Smellie J, Frape S, 1997. Hydrogeochemical aspects of glaciation. In: King-Clayton et al. (eds): Glaciation and Hydrogeology, Workshop on the impact of climate change & glaciations on rock stresses, groundwater flow and hydrochemistry – past, present and future. SKI Report 97:13, 45–51.

Starinsky A, Katz A, 2003. The formation of natural cryogenic brines. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta, 67 (8), 1475–1484.

Steenfelt A, 2004. En vurdering av de geokemiske forhold i de grønlandske byers vandressourceoplande og deres indflydelse på kvaliteten af råvandet – revideret. Danmarks og Grønlands Geologiske Undersøgelse Rapport 2004/58 (in Danish).

Steenfelt A, Garde A A, Moyen J F, 2005. Mantle wedge involvement in the petrogenesis of Archaean grey gneisses in West Greenland. Lithos, 79, 207–228.

Storey M, Duncan R A, Pedersen A K, Larsen L M, Larsen H C, 1998. ⁴⁰Ar/³⁹Ar geochronology of the West Greenland Tertiary volcanic province, Earth Planet. Sci. Lett., 160, 569–586.

Stotler R L, 2008. Evolution of Canadian Shield groundwaters and gases: influence of deep permafrost. PhD thesis. University of Waterloo, Waterloo, Ontario, Canada.

Sugden D E, 1974. Landscapes of glacial erosion in Greenland and their relationship to ice, topographic and bedrock conditions. Institute of British Geographers Special Publications, 7, 177–195.

Taylor P N, Kalsbeek F, 1990. Dating the metamorphism of Precambrian marbles: Examples from Proterozoic mobile belts in Greenland. Chemical Geology, 86, 21–28.

Ten Brink N W, Weidick A, 1974. Greenland ice sheet history since the last glaciation. Quaternary Research, 4, 429–440.

Ten Brink N W, 1975. Holocene history of the Greenland Ice-Sheet based on radiocarbon dated moraines in West Greenland. Meddelelser om Grønland, 201 (4).

Theakstone W H, Knudsen N T, 1996. Isotopic and ionic variations in glacier river water during three contrasting ablation seasons. Hydrological Processes, 10, 523–539.

Thomsen H H, Thorning L, Olesen O B, 1989. Applied glacier research for planning hydro-electric power, Ilulissat/Jacobshavn, West Greenland. Ann. Glaciol., 13, 257–261.

Tranter M, Brown G H, Hodson A J, Gurnell A M, 1996. Hydrochemistry as an indicator of subglacial drainage system structure: A comparison of Alpine and sub-polar envoronments. Hydrological Processes, 10, 541–556.

Tranter M, Sharp M J, Brown G H, Willis I C, Hubbard B P, Nielsen M K, Smart C C, Gordon S, Tulley M, Lamb H R, 1997. Variability in the chemical composition of in situ subglacial meltwaters. Hydrological Processes, 11, 59–77.

van de Wal R S W, Russell A J, 1994. A comparison of energy balance calculations, measured ablation and meltwater runoff near Søndre Strømfjord, West Greenland. Global and Planetary Change, 9, 29–38.

van Everdingen R O, 1976. Geocryological terminology. Canadian Journal of Earth Sciences, 13, 862–867.

van Everdingen R O, 1990. Ground-water hydrology. In: Prowse, T D and Ommanney, C S L (eds). Northern Hydrology, Canadian Perspectives. NHRI Science Report No 1.

van Gool J, Marker M, Mengel F, field party, 1996. The Palaeoproterozoic Nagssugtoqidian Orogen in West Greenland: current status of work by the Danish Lithosphere Centre. Report of activities, 1995. Bulletin Grønlands Geologiske Undersøgelse, 172, 88–94.

van Gool J A M, Connelly L N, Marker M, Mengel F C, 2002. The Nagssugtoqidian orogen of West Greenland: tectonic evolution and regional correlation from a West Greenland perspective. Can. J. Earth Sci., 39, 665–686.

van Tatenhove F G M, Olesen O B, 1994. Ground temperature and related permafrost characteristics in West Greenland. Permafrost and Periglacial Processes, 5, 199–215.

van Tatenhove F G M, van der Meer J J M, Koster E A, 1996. Implications for deglaciation chronology from the new AMS age determinations in central West Greenland. Quaternary Research, 45, 245–253.

Vidstrand P, 2003. Surface and subsurface conditions in permafrost areas – a literature review. SKB TR-03-06, Svensk Kärnbränslehantering AB.

Villumsen A J, Jørgensen A S, Barten A, Fritt-Rasmussen J, Løgstrup L, Brock N, Hoedeman N, Gunnarsdottir R, Borre S, Ingeman-Nielsen T, 2007. Road construction in Greenland – the Greenlandic case. Arctic Technology Centre.

Wadham J L, Tranter M, Dowdeswell J A, 2000. Hydrochemistry of meltwaters draining a polythermal-based, high-Arctic glacier, south Svalbard: II. Winter and early Spring. Hydrological Processes, 14, 1767–1786.

Wadham J L, Cooper R J, Tranter M, Hodgkins R, 2001. Enhancement of glacial solute fluxes in the proglacial zone of a polythermal glacier. J. Glaciology, 47 (157), 378–386.

Wardle R J, Scott D, van Gool J, Garde A, Culshaw N, Hall J, 2000. An overview of the development of NE Laurentia; Nain-Superior collision and links to western Trans-Hudson Orogen. Geological Association of Canada – Mineralogical Association of Canada (GAC–MAC) annual meeting, Calgary 2000, Program with Abstracts.

Weidick A, 1968. Observations on some Holocene Glacier Fluctuations in West Greenland. Meddelelser om Grønland, 165 (6), Copenhagen.

Weidick A, 1980. Hydrological basins in West Greenland and their relationship to a preliminary sectorial division of the inland ice sheet. World Glacier Inventory. Proceedings of the Riederalp Workshop, September 1978. IAHS-AISH Publ. no. 126, pp. 49–55.

Weidick A, Olesen O B, 1980. Hydrological basins in West Greenland. Grønlands Geologiske Undersøgelse Rapport, 94, København, Denmark.

Weidick A, Bennike O, 2007. Quaternary glaciation history and glaciology of Jakobshavn Isbræ and the Disko Bugt region, West Greenland: a review. Geological Survey of Denmark and Greenland Bulletin, 14, 78 pp.

Willemse N W, Törnqvist T E, 1999. Holocene century-scale temperature variability from West Greenland lake records. Geology, 27, 580–584.

Willemse N W, Koster E A, Hoogakker B, van Tatenhove F G M, 2003. A continuous record of Holocene eolian activity in West Greenland. Quaternary Research, 59, 322–334.

Willemse N W, van Dam O, van Helvoort P-J, Dankers R, Brommer M, Schokker J, Valstar T E, de Wolf H, 2004. Physical and chemical limnology of a subsaline athalassic lake in West Greenland. Hydrobiologia, 524, 167–192.

Willigers B J A, Krogstad E J, Wijbrans J R, 2001. Comparison of thermochronometers in a slowly cooled granulite terrain: Nagssugtoqidian Orogen, West Greenland. Journal of Petrology, 42, 1729–1749.

Worsley P, Gurney S D, 2007. Geomorphology and hydrogeological significance of the Holocene pingos in the Karup Valley area, Traill Island, northern east Greenland. Journal of Quaternary Science, 11 (3), 249–262.

Yde J C, Knudsen N T, 2004. The importance of oxygen isotope provenance in relation to solute content of bulk meltwaters at Imersuaq Glacier, West Greenland. Hydrological Processes, 18, 125–139.

Yde J C, Knudsen N T, Nielsen O B, 2005. Glacier hydrochemistry, solute provenance, and chemical denudation at a surge-type glacier in Kuannersuit Kuussuat, Disko Island, West Greenland. Journal of Hydrology, 300, 172–187.

Zwally H J, Abdalati W, Herring T, Larson K, Saba J, Steffen K, 2002. Surface-melt induced acceleration of Greenland ice-sheet flow. Science, 297, 218–222.